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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	TOMMY J. COTTRELL, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

BIG WAYNE’S SERVICES, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200903275
AWCB Decision No.  10-0161
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on September 30, 2010


Tommy Cottrell’s (Employee) claim was heard on July 20, 2010, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Employee appeared, represented himself and testified.  Attorney Erin Egan represented Big Wayne’s Services, Inc. and its workers’ compensation insurer (collectively, Employer).  Stephen DeLisio, Fred Steenmeyer, and Tony Slavish testified telephonically for Employee.  Jesse Rogers testified in person and Wayne Knicley (“Big Wayne”) testified telephonically for Employer.  The record remained open until July 30, 2010, for Employer to submit documents showing work Employer performed for Anchorage Bible Fellowship, some of which was alleged to have involved Employee.  The record closed on August 3, 2010, when the board next met.

Employer objected to Employee calling any hearing witnesses, asserting his failure to timely file a witness list.  Employee argued he filed a witness list in November 2009.  Employer’s objection was overruled, except as it applied to Steve Richmond who was not listed on any witness list, as Employee had filed the equivalent of a witness list in November 2009.  Employee was allowed to call any witnesses whose names appeared on that list, and Employer had an opportunity to cross-examine all witnesses.


ISSUES
Employee contends he was Employer’s employee and was injured on Employer’s job.  He contends he reported the injury to Employer, and documentary and testamentary evidence proves he was Employer’s employee.  Employee contends he did very little work on Employer’s home and only lived there briefly, so he was not exchanging housing for personal service labor.  He contends he has been trying to obtain medical care and other benefits from Employer, to no avail.  He seeks an award of workers’ compensation benefits, including a penalty and a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).

Employer contends Employee was not its employee at the time of any injury.  Rather, it contends Employer only provided Employee with a home Employer owned in which to live, in exchange for Employee’s repair work on the home and on “personal projects” for Employer and its owner’s friends.  Employer contends the personal projects Employer allowed Employee to perform for money had nothing to do with Employer’s business, and Employee was never its employee.  Employer alternately contends, regardless of any employer-employee status, Employee did not sustain any injury at any time during which Employee lived in Employer’s home, doing anything for Employer, or in the summer of 2008.  It contends Employee had many injuries before his alleged injury with Employer.  Employer contends its employer’s medical evaluation (EME) confirmed Employee’s need for medical care was merely the result of degenerative problems, and not any acute injury.  Employer further contends Employee never informed Employer of any injury.  It seeks dismissal of Employee’s claim.  

1) On the date of alleged injury, in or about late June 2008, was Tommy Cottrell an “employee,” employed by Big Wayne’s Services, Inc., an “employer”?

If issue one is answered in the affirmative, the next issue is:

2) Did Employee suffer a work-related “injury” with Employer?

If issue two is answered in the affirmative, other issues include:

3) Is Employee entitled to an award of temporary total disability (TTD) from Employer from September 19, 2008 and continuing?

4) Is Employee entitled to an award of medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer?

5) Is Employee entitled to a penalty from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers?

6) Is Employee entitled to an award of mandatory interest from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers? 

7) Should an SIME or other medical evaluation be ordered in this case?


FINDINGS OF FACT 

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) Employee has a long history of symptoms in his neck, back and right knee before his injury with Employer (Employee’s deposition, December 9, 2009, at 100-123).

2) Notwithstanding Employee’s history of past injuries and symptoms, he successfully played handball and “ran stairs” while he was in prison prior to his employment with Employer.  While so doing, he was able to reduce his weight from 250 pounds down to 190 (Cottrell).

3) Notwithstanding Employee’s history of past injuries and symptoms, he successfully worked as a roofer for another company tearing off roofs prior to working for Employer (Cottrell).

4) Notwithstanding Employee’s history of past injuries and symptoms, on May 25, 2006, Rod Hickman, PA-C, observed Employee “playing handball  . . . and running up and down the court hitting the ball and has no obvious hesitancy, no deformity, has a normal gait, and absolutely no difficulty with ambulation nor activities involved in playing handball. . . .  He appears completely well” (Hickman report, May 25, 2006).

5) Beginning in May 2008 through September 2008, Employer paid Employee for services rendered with at least 12 checks ritten from Big Wayne’s Service, Inc.’s business account.  One check, serial number 2758, dated June 20, 2008, and processed June 26, 2008, paid Employee $306.00 and in the “for” line states it included $50.00 for “supplies,” and “Chalet – 8 hours.”  Wayne Knicley signed one check, and Mavis Knicley signed the other eleven (Employer’s Affidavit of Service, July1, 2010, 38-39).

6) In or about late June 2008, Employee, while working for Employer as a roofer, was doing a “torch-down” style roof on a two-story house at 7510 Chalet Court, owned at that time by Martha Compton, off upper Huffman Road, in Anchorage.  On the day in question, which Employee could not recall for certain, Employee off-loaded tools, supplies and equipment from the roof, using a rope with a hook on the end by lowering items hand-over-hand with the rope to the ground.  As he was lowering the materials, Employee felt a sudden, sharp pain in the middle of his lower back and in “the right cheek of his butt.”  Employee had felt back pain before, but in his words “this baby was toast” (Employee’s deposition, December 9, 2009 at 127-131).

7) In or about late June 2008, immediately after Employee “tweaked” his lower back he climbed down the ladder with some difficulty and reported to Employer’s father “Ernie,” also Employer’s employee, he hurt his back and was not going to be able to finish the job.  Ernie, in a supervisory role, was Employer’s “eyes and ears on the job site.”  Employee immediately thereafter also went to Employer’s home, where Employee was living at the time, found Employer Wayne Knicley there, and told him he hurt his back at work.  Employer Knicley told Employee to “just go ahead and take a few days off, rest” (id. at 128-130).  

8) Following Employee’s injury, Employer Knicley came to his house daily to check on him, see if he had improved, and after a while “kind of shamed” Employee into going back to work (id. at 134).

9) There is no Report of Occupational Injury or Illness filed in Employee’s case (record).

10) Following Employee’s injury, Employee attempted to return to work for Employer on several occasions, and actually performed some services, but regretted doing so because it caused increased symptoms (id. at 134-135).

11) On June 23, 2008, Employee sought care from Douglas B. Luther, D.C., at Luther Chiropractic complaining of pain in his back, neck and right knee, which he said happened “at work.”  Employee listed his occupation as “roofer, construction,” did not list his employer’s name but listed as his employer’s address “9241 Grover Dr.,” which is Employer’s address (Luther Chiropractic, June 23, 2008; see also Employer’s Witness List, July 13, 2010, at paragraph 3).  Employee stated the onset was “last week,” and it hurt “every day” in his right butt, down to his knee, when standing.  He listed “WC” as the insurance covering his medical expenses (Luther Chiropractic, June 23, 2008).

12) On July 24, 2008, Employee went to Providence Hospital Emergency Room stating his employer was Big Wayne’s Roofing and complaining of low back and right leg pain; he listed his insurance as a “workman’s  compen” (Abstract Summary Form, July 24, 2008).

13) On June 24 and July 1, 2008, Employee followed up with Dr. Luther (Luther Chiropractic, June 24, and July 1, 2008).

14) July 26, 2008, Employee again appeared at Providence Hospital Emergency Room complaining his low back pain had flared up again over the past two months.  The emergency room physician completed a workers’ compensation Physician’s Report, which listed Big Wayne’s Roofing as Employee’s employer (Physician’s Report and attachment, July 26, 2008).

15) On July 31, 2008, Employee had a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan done through Providence Hospital Emergency Room, which showed degenerative changes and herniated discs (Dr. Mraz report, September 4, 2008).

16) On August 13, 2008, Michael Mraz, M.D., at Anchorage Neighborhood Health Clinic noted Employee had been seen at emergency rooms several times in July 2008 and was having increasing problems with his back pain, with radiation down his right leg.  Employee told Dr. Mraz his pain “probably started about three months ago where he twisted funny and had pain in his right buttock, down to his groin and then he had severe shooting pain down to his knee.”   Dr. Mraz apparently reviewed medical records from the emergency room from July 19, July 24, July 26, and July 31, 2008.  Dr. Mraz diagnosed localized primary osteoarthritis of the right knee, cervical disc degeneration, herniated disc L3-L4 right, and sciatica.  Employee was to contact workers’ compensation to check on coverage, and if not, contact a workers’ compensation attorney (Dr. Mraz report, August 13, 2008).

17) On several occasions in August 2008, Employee sought care at Providence Hospital emergency room, having been seen there “on four previous occasions over the past month with issues related to back pain,” complaining “of back and leg pain from an injury he sustained at work in May 2008,” and medicating himself with alcohol to help “manage his pain” and to obtain sleep (Providence Hospital Emergency Room, August 18 and August 22, 2008).

18) On September 4, 2008, Employee saw Dr. Mraz who noted he had a workers’ compensation case which “apparently is now closed,” and his symptoms were increasing (Dr. Mraz report, September 4, 2008).

19) On December 2, 2008, Employee reported to Dr. Mraz he was unable to work since March 2008 because of severe pain in his low back (Dr. Mraz report, December 2, 2008).

20) On February 26, 2009, Employee saw Anchorage Neighborhood Health Clinic to seek a referral to a pain clinic that would support him (Anchorage Neighborhood Health Clinic report, February 26, 2009).

21) On March 31, 2009, Employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim citing March 30, 2009 as the date of injury.  In his claim, Employee sought TTD, permanent total disability (PTD), medical and related transportation costs, compensation rate, penalty, and explained how his injury occurred as follows:

I was hand lining roofing material off of the roof and twisted my back.  I was later on found to have sciatica in my right butt cheek.

Employee’s claim alleged injury to his lower back, right knee, and neck (claim, March 30, 2008).

22) On April 15, 2009, Employer controverted all benefits stating there was no employer/employee relationship between Employee and Employer, no work injury could have occurred on March 30, 2009, and Employer had been unable to reach Employee to complete an investigation (Controversion Notice, April 14, 2009).

23) On April 15, 2009, Employer through its adjuster answered Employee’s claim and denied all benefits primarily on grounds Employee was not Employer’s employee at the time of his injury (Answer, April 14, 2009).

24) In April 28, 2009, Dr. Mraz referred Employee to Davis Peterson, M.D., for back and neck imaging, and possibly nerve conduction studies (Dr. Mraz report, April 28, 2009).

25) On June 12, 2009, Employee had a physical capacity evaluation performed.  On his paperwork, Employee listed Big Wayne’s Services as his employer, and listed as an injury date June 1, 2008.  This evaluation stated Employee was capable of sustaining light level work, eight hours per day (Ergo Science, June 12, 2009).

26) On July 1, 2009, Employer controverted stating all benefits were denied and Employee’s claim was barred under various statutes, or otherwise barred by law or equity, the last injurious exposure rule is or may be applicable to this claim, Employee’s injury, condition or disability did not arise out of or in the course of employment with Employer, no medical evidence linked Employee’s claimed injuries to his claimed employment with Employer, and at no time was there ever an employer/employee relationship between Employee and Employer (Controversion Notice, June 30, 2009).

27) On July 1, 2009, Employer amended its answer to Employee’s claim and denied all benefits, primarily on the grounds Employee was not Employer’s employee at the time of his injury, and any injury, condition, or disability did not arise out of or in the course of any employment with Employer (amended answer, June 30, 2009).

28) On July 14, 2009, Employer’s counsel wrote the Designated Chair clarifying Employer’s position concerning lack of an injury report.  Employer through counsel clarified the “reason a report of injury was not filed is because the employee was not working for the employer at the time of his injury.  Thus, there was no reason for the employer to file a report of injury” (letter, July 14, 2009).

29) On July 24, 2009, Fred Steenmeyer signed a letter stating: “Knowing this to be a fact, this verifies to you, that Mr. Tommy Cottrell did work for Big Wayne’s Roofing” (letter, To Whom It May Concern, July 24, 2009).

30) On July 24, 2009, Tony Slavish signed a letter stating: “Mr. Tommy J. Cottrell worked for Big Wayne’s Roofing.  To the best of my recall for about May 2008 and maybe June or July 2008” (letter, July 24, 2009).

31) At a prehearing conference on July 8, 2009, Employee withdrew his claim for PTD and for a compensation rate adjustment.  He also admitted he was not sure of his exact injury date and put the wrong date on his workers’ compensation claim.  Employee stated he was injured sometime between April 2008 and June 2008, as he was lowering materials down from a roof, using a rope, and injured his low back, neck and right knee.  Under discovery issues, Employee requested “any and all documentation showing any payments made” to Employee from Employer.  Employer, through counsel, advised Employer already said it had nothing to produce because “no payments were ever made” (Prehearing Conference Summary, July 8, 2009).

32) On November 4, 2009, Employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on his March 30, 2009 Workers’ Compensation Claim (Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing, November 4, 2009).

33) On November 17, 2009, a private investigator observed Employee walked with “a slight limp” (Katmai Investigations report, November 20, 2009, at 4).

34) On November 25, 2009, Employee filed a statement from Stephen DeLisio, pastor at Anchorage Bible Fellowship, stating: “Tommy Cottrell last summer work for Big Wayne’s Roofing, for several days, on the roof of Anchorage Bible Fellowship, 7348 Elmore Rd., Anchorage” (undated letter, filed November 25, 2009).

35) On November 25, 2009, Employer filed a request for cross-examination of the following: Fred Steenmeyer, Haus Hager, M.D., Donna Arline, Betty Steenmeyer, Stephen DeLisio, and Tony Slavish (request for cross-examination, November 24, 2009).

36) At his deposition on December 9, 2009, Employee testified he worked for Employer roofing at Anchorage Bible Fellowship church.  Employee initially thought he was getting paid by Employer for the job and even paid a co-worker $100 out of his own pocket, thinking he would be reimbursed by Employer in wages.  Employer subsequently told Employee it was “ministry” work done out of Employer’s “heart” and no one would be paid.  Eventually, a church finance minister told Employee the church paid Employer for the roof repairs (Employee’s deposition, December 9, 2009, at 35).  He believed the work-related injury subject of this claim occurred approximately June 26, 2008 (id. at 46).  Employee testified Employer hired him to run his roofing shop as his foreman.  Previously, every Sunday at church, Employer would “hound” Employee to come work for him (id. at 87).  

37) When Employee would, on occasion, accompany Employer to job sites or to perform bids, Employer would introduce him as “my foreman Tommy” (id. at 87).

38) At a prehearing conference on December 22, 2009, Employee clarified the injury date was actually June 26, 2008.  He amended his claim to include TTD from September 19, 2008 forward, medical costs, and a penalty under AS 23.30.070(f) (Prehearing Conference Summary, December 22, 2009).

39) At a prehearing conference on December 22, 2009, Employer raised a new defense of Employee’s failure to provide written notice of his injury within 30 days pursuant to AS 23.30.100, and contended his claim was therefore barred (id.).

40) On March 4, 2010, the Office of the Attorney General notified the board Employee was a Medicaid recipient, and as such, the State of Alaska has a statutory assignment, lien, and subrogation rights arising out of Medicaid payments made on Employee’s behalf regarding his work-related injury (letter, March 4, 2010).

41) On March 30, 2010, Employee saw Kim Wright, M.D., for evaluation.  Employee reported his main complaint as low back pain since June 2008 when, he stated, “he was helping out on a construction job when he had a sudden onset of pain in his lower back and down the posterolateral aspect of his right leg, and his entire right leg felt numb especially around his right knee” (Alaska Neuroscience Associates, March 30, 2010).

42) On April 2, 2010, Employee underwent an MRI, which showed bilateral, foraminal protrusions at L3-4, which caused marked, right and moderate left-sided neuroforaminal narrowing with compression of the L3 nerve roots, bilaterally.  The right foraminal protrusions appeared smaller than on a prior MRI.  The April 2010 MRI also disclosed additional, small protrusions at L4-5 and L5-S1 with mild, neural foraminal narrowing in conjunction with moderate facet arthropathy (MRI report, April 2, 2010).

43) On April 20, 2010, Employee saw Michael Mraz, M.D., who reviewed the MRI carefully and determined Employee’s symptoms were caused by foraminal narrowing due to congenitally narrow foramina, and “somewhat of a bulging disc” in the L3-4 level (Anchorage Neighborhood Health Clinic, April 20, 2010).  Dr. Mraz recommended surgical treatment and Employee decided to go forward with surgery at the earliest possible opportunity (id.).

44) On April 23, 2010, Employee filed a petition requesting an SIME (petition, April 21, 2010).

45) On May 3, 2010, Dr. Wright performed a bilateral, L3-4 laminotomy, medial facetectomy, and foraminotomy on Employee (Providence Alaska Medical Center, May 3, 2010).

46) On May 11, 2010, Employer answered Employee’s petition for an SIME and objected, stating it was unaware of any medical dispute necessitating an SIME (Answer, May 11, 2010).

47) It is July 13, 2010 hearing brief, Employer admitted Employee “did some projects for Mr. Knicley, who paid Mr. Cottrell $30 per hour in relation to these projects” (Employer’s Hearing Brief, July 13, 2010).

48) On July 15, 2010, Jeremy Biggs, M.D., who saw Employee for an EME, testified by deposition.  Dr. Biggs noted a pre-injury history of neck, back, and knee pain.  There were no indications Employee’s subjective complaints were out of proportion to his objective examination.  All Waddell’s signs were normal.  Diagnostic impressions were degenerative disc disease of lumbar spine and cervical spine, anterior cervical fusion surgery, right knee pain and degenerative joint disease in the both knees (Biggs deposition, July 15, 2010 at 12-20).

49) Employer’s counsel advised Dr. Biggs the definition of “the substantial cause” means “the cause that plays the greatest role in bringing about the condition or conditions that you’ve diagnosed” (id. at 20).

50) Dr. Biggs did not identify any new “condition” related to any work related injury suffered around March 2008, but testified the injury around March 2008 temporarily exacerbated his pre-existing neck, low back and knee pain, but did not cause “any significant new injury.”  He opined Employee became medically stable from the temporary exacerbation of his pre-existing conditions as of August 2008.  Though he had no medical records concerning Employee’s low back surgery to review, Dr. Biggs also opined Employee’s back surgery was in no way related to any event in March 2008, and Employee had no permanent impairment or permanent work restrictions resulting from events of March 2008 (id. at 23-24).  In summary, Dr. Biggs testified anything after about August 2008 would no longer be related to any work injury in March 2008 because Employee basically returned where he had been prior to whatever may or may not have happened in March 2008 (id. at 24-25).

51) On July 16, 2010, Douglas Bald, M.D., who saw Employee for an EME, testified by deposition, and noted the following history of the subject injury he obtained from Employee: “He was working on a roof unloading equipment down to the ground using a rope pulley system, and in the course of performing the activity developed pain in his lower back, his neck and his right knee.”  Dr. Bald had no reason to question Employee’s credibility and stated: “I think he was giving us an honest picture of his history, he just didn’t remember, I don’t think, exactly when certain things happened.”  He too found on physical examination, “normal or negative” Waddell’s signs, which Dr. Bald described as tests designed in a sense to determine a person’s credibility.  Dr. Bald found objective evidence to support Employee’s subjective complaints and all seemed “pretty consistent” (Bald deposition, July 16, 2010, at 9-15).

52) Dr. Bald’s diagnoses were similar to those offered by Dr. Biggs (id. at 10-16).

53) Employer’s counsel advised Dr. Bald the definition of “the substantial cause” means “the cause that plays the greatest role in bringing about the condition or conditions that you’ve diagnosed” (id. at 16).

54) Dr. Bald opined the substantial cause of Employee’s then-current symptoms in his neck, lower back and right knee were related to pre-existing and progressive age-related degenerative arthritis in all three areas (id.).

55) Dr. Bald opined, based upon medical probability, Employee experienced systematic “aggravation” of his pre-existing problems in his lower back during the course of his work, which resolved and for which he was medically stable by August 13, 2008.  Dr. Bald agreed with Dr. Biggs Employee suffered no permanent impairment as a result of any event in March 2008.  He further testified medical care Employee received in relation to his symptomatic aggravation was reasonable and necessary (id. at 19-20).  In Dr. Bald’s opinion, medical care from approximately August 13, 2008 to the present was no longer related to any March 2008 incident (id. at 20).

56) Dr. Bald reviewed medical records from Kim Wright, M.D., describing radiographic imaging as well as low back surgical procedures.  These described a right-sided disc extrusion and diffuse, lumbar spondylosis and arthritis.  They also described fairly severe foraminal compression on the right side and significant nerve compression.  They further reflect Employee underwent surgery to correct these issues on May 3, 2010.  Based upon his record review, Dr. Bald opined these records confirmed his opinion low back surgery was necessitated solely because of degenerative arthritis in the spine and not the result of any event in March 2008 (id. at 20-23).

57) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Employee witness Stephen DeLisio, one of four pastors at Anchorage Bible Fellowship, credibly testified his church hired Employer to repair the church roof and he personally observed Employee working on the roof, as “the senior guy” on the crew.  Mr. DeLisio testified Employer billed the church for the repairs and the church paid the bill (DeLisio).

58) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Employee witness Fred Steenmeyer credibly testified he too saw Employee on the church roof working on it after the church had hired Employer to repair the roof.  Mr. Steenmeyer testified he made these observations in the summer of 2008 (Steenmeyer).

59) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Employee witness Tony Slavish credibly testified he knew Employee worked for Employer because he lived with Employee in Employer’s house, he occasionally dropped Employee off at Employer’s jobs, including the church job and the job on Huffman Road in Anchorage, Employee was involved in “safety meetings” with Employer, and Mr. Slavish’s son worked on the church roof job with Employee “a couple of years ago,” in June or July 2008.  Mr. Slavish had been Employee’s friend for many years, was aware of his prior physical issues over the years, and did not recall any specific complaints from Employee until after the roofing job on which Employee hurt his back.  After an incident on the Huffman Road job, in the summer of 2008, Employee complained about his “sciatica,” laid in his bed, could hardly move, and was moaning and groaning (Slavish).

60) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Jesse Rogers, who admitted he worked for Employer, testified he too had been on “some jobs” with Employee but was not aware whether Employee was on Employer’s payroll.  Mr. Rogers claimed he did not know the employment relationship between Employee and Mr. Rogers’ father’s business, Big Wayne’s Services.  However, Mr. Rogers admitted Employee worked on the roof on the hillside, but averred Employee was drunk on the job (Rogers).  Based upon Mr. Rogers’ demeanor at hearing, comparison testimony from other witnesses, and his relationship as Wayne Knicley’s son, Mr. Rogers’ testimony was not very credible, except for his admissions against his father’s interest (record).

61) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Employer witness Wayne Knicley contradicted Employee’s testimony and said he allowed Employee to live in his home in exchange for work on the house and on personal projects.  Mr. Knicley testified Employee was not a Big Wayne’s Services employee in summer 2008 and had been complaining about his neck, back and knees ever since Mr. Knicley met him at church.  Employer denied Employee ever claimed he had an injury while living in his house.  Mr. Knicley testified Employee was never a Big Wayne’s services employee at any time and certainly was never hired as a foreman.  Mr. Knicley asserted jobs Employee did on the church were Mr. Knicley’s “tithing” to the church, and as for the church job for which Employer was paid, Employee did not work on that job (Knicley).  

62) Employer Wayne Knicley was not credible because he stated through counsel at a prehearing conference on July 8, 2009, Employer had no documentation to produce to Employee showing payments made to him, because there were no such payments.  However, Employer later produced at least twelve checks written to Employee for services rendered, written from Employer’s business account (Prehearing Conference Summary, July 8, 2009; see also Employer’s Affidavit of Service, July 1, 2010, at 38-39).  Similarly, Employer Knicley testified at hearing he never paid Employee by the hour for any services rendered (Knicley), yet Employer’s hearing brief states Employer paid Employee $30 per hour in relation to projects (Employer’s Hearing Brief, July 13, 2010, at 2).  Lastly, Employer Knicley testified he never hired Employee to work for Big Wayne’s Services (Knicley), but four other witnesses, including two disinterested witnesses, refuted his testimony and said Employer had been hired to do a roofing job on a church, and Employee showed up and worked on the job (Cottrell, Steenmeyer, DeLisio, Slavish).

63) Mr. Knicley admitted his father Ernie was also a Big Wayne’s Services employee, and “supervised” on projects on which Employee worked (Knicley).

64) Mr. Knicley admitted Employee did “very little” work on Mr. Knicley’s house in which Employee lived (Knicley).

65) Mr. Knicley did not pay Employee for work, if any, Employee did in Mr. Knicley’s home in which Employee lived (record).

66) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Employee credibly testified he hurt himself on the Huffman Road job working on “Charlotte’s” roof; his testimony was consistent with his deposition testimony concerning the incident (Cottrell).

67) At hearing on July 10, 2010, Employee, though he is consistently terrible with recalling specific dates, was honest, forthcoming, and fully credible and tried his best to recall specifics concerning his injury (Cottrell).

68) Following his work-related injury with Employer, at one point in summer 2008, Employee was in so much pain he tried to check himself into Alaska Psychiatric Institute (Cottrell).

69) Following his work-related injury with Employer, Employee experienced an increase in neck pain, back pain, “sciatica,” and right knee pain related to sciatica (Cottrell).

70) At the relevant times in summer 2008, Employee did not own or operate his own roofing business (Cottrell).

71) At the relevant times in summer 2008, Employee could, as Employer’s foreman, choose his crew from other Big Wayne employees and send people home if he did not need them on the job (Cottrell).

72) At the relevant times in summer 2008, Employee could have quit, and Employer could have terminated, Employee’s his employment with Employer at any time (Cottrell).

73) Though no one actually oversaw Employee’s work, Wayne Knicley and his father Ernie were Employee’s supervisors for reporting work-related injuries while he was employed with Employer (Cottrell).

74) Wayne Knicley and his father Ernie obtained materials for Employee as he worked on Employer’s jobs (Cottrell).

75) Wayne Knicley obtained the jobs for Employer and then told Employee where to appear for work (Cottrell).

76) Employee use his own hand tools, which are limited when it comes to roofing jobs, but Employer provided all other materials for the crew (Cottrell).
77) Employee was not an independent contractor, and in accordance with their verbal agreement, Employer paid him by the hour either at the rate of $20.00, $30.00, or $32.00 per hour, depending upon the job.  Employee submitted timesheets to Employer Wayne Knicley’s wife, Mavis Knicley.  If Employee did not turn in timesheets, he did not get paid (Cottrell).

78) Check number 2758, dated June 20, 2008 and processed June 26, 2008, for $306.00, represented payment at $32.00 per hour after the total is reduced by Employer’s reimbursement to Employee for supplies ($306.00 - $50.00 for supplies as stated on the check = $256.00 / 8 hours as stated on the check = $32.00 per hour; see also Employer’s Affidavit of Service, July 1, 2010, 
at 39).

79) Roofing and gutters is Employer’s main business (Cottrell; Knicley).  

80) At the relevant times in summer 2008, Employee did not have his own workers’ compensation insurance policy (Cottrell).

81) Employer conceded the presumption of compensability applies to questions of employee/employer relationships, and Employee’s claim for benefits on its merits (Employer’s hearing brief, July 13, 2010, at 9-10, 12-13).

82) Employee’s claim he is an employee of Employer, and his claims for a work-related injury are not factually complicated or complex (record).

83) The work Employee was performing for Employer required little experience or skill, and is typically learned on the job (record).
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) This chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) Worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

“The Workmen’s Compensation Act was enacted for the benefit of the employee.  The Industrial Accident Board is a state board created by legislative act to administer this remedial legislation, and under the act the Board’s first duty is to administer the act so as to give the employee the greatest possible protection within the purposes of the act.”  Cole v. Town of Miami, 83 P.2d 997, 1000 (1938); Yurkovich v. Industrial Accident Board, 314 P.2d 866, 869-871 (1957).  Cited in Richard v. Fireman’s Fund, 384 P.2d 445 (Alaska 1963).  “We hold to the view that a workmen’s compensation board or commission owes to every applicant for compensation that duty of fully advising him as to all the real facts which bear upon his condition and his right to compensation, so far as it may know them, and of instructing him on how to pursue that right under the law.”  Richard.

“In Richard v. Fireman’s Fund Insurance Co. we held that the board must assist claimants by advising them of the important facts of their case and instructing them how to pursue their right to compensation.  We have not considered the extent of the board’s duty to advise claimants.”  Bohlmann v. Alaska Construction & Engineering, Inc., 205 P.3d 316 (Alaska 2009).

Under the Act, coverage is established by work connection, and the test of work connection is, if accidental injury is connected with any of incidents of one’s employment, then the injury both would “arise out of” and be “in the course of” employment.  The “arising out of” and the “in the course of” tests should not be kept in separate compartments but should be merged into a single concept of “work connection.”  Northern Corp. v. Saari, 409 P.2d 845 (Alaska 1966).  
AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability . . . or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability . . . or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the . . . disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the . . . disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability . . . or need for medical treatment. . . . 

“Semantical confusion” will not prevent the board from using medical testimony to support a claim for medical benefits if the physician’s opinion is understood as conveying the opinion sought.  Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065, 1075 (Alaska 1997).  Legal principles applying to this case include: Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970) (a preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought).  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981) (the question of whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board).  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987) (to prove an aggravation or exacerbation of a preexisting condition, the claimant need only prove that “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, to satisfy the “but for” test, the claimant need only prove, as indicated above, the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor (or “the substantial cause” under current law) in the resulting disability).  Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 (Alaska 1991) (for the purpose of determining whether an underlying disease has been aggravated by a work injury, there is not a distinction between worsening of the underlying disease process and worsening of the symptoms).  

AS 23.30.070.  Report of injury to division.  (a) Within 10 days from the date the employer has knowledge of an injury or death or from the date the employer has knowledge of a disease or infection, alleged by the employee or on behalf of the employee to have arisen out of and in the course of the employment, the employer shall send to the division a report setting out

(1) the name, address, and business of the employer; 

(2) the name, address, and occupation of the employee; 

(3) the cause and nature of the alleged injury or death; 

(4) the year, month, day, and hour when and the particular locality where the alleged injury or death occurred; and 

(5) the other information that the division may require. 

(b) Additional reports with respect to the injury and to the condition of the employee shall be sent by the employer to the division at the times and in the manner that the director prescribes.

(c) A report made under (a) or (b) of this section is not evidence of a fact stated in the report in a proceeding in respect to the injury or death on account of which the report is made.

(d) Mailing of the report and a copy to the division in a stamped envelope, within the time prescribed in (a) or (b) of this section, is compliance with this section.

(e) If the employer or the carrier has been given notice, or the employer, or an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier has knowledge of an injury or death of an employee and fails, neglects, or refuses to file a report of it as required by (a) of this section, the limitations in AS 23.30.105(a) of this chapter do not begin to run against the claim of the injured employee or the employee’s dependents entitled to compensation, or in favor of either the employer or the carrier, until the report has been furnished as required (a) of this section.

(f) An employer who fails or refuses to send a report required of the employer by this section or who fails or refuses to send the report required by (a) of this section within the time required shall, if so required by the board, pay the employee or the legal representative of the employee or other person entitled to compensation by reason of the employee’s injury or death an additional award equal to 20 percent of the amounts that were unpaid when due. The award shall be against either the employer or the insurance carrier, or both.

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

. . .

(k) In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee’s attending physician and the employer’s independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

An employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).  An injured worker is also entitled to a prospective determination of whether his injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction, 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

Regulation 8 AAC 45.090(b) provides for orders requiring Employer to pay for Employee’s examination pursuant to §095(k) or §110(g).  Section 095(k) and §110(g) are procedural in nature, not substantive, for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 (July 23, 1997) at 3; see also Harvey v. Cook Inlet Pipe Line Co., AWCB Decision No. 98-0076 (March 26, 1998).  Considering the broad procedural discretion granted in §135(a) and §155(h), wide discretion exists under AS 23.30.110(g) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order an SIME to assist in investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims, to best “protect the rights of the parties.”

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (AWCAC) in Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp.,  AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008) addressed the board’s authority to order an SIME under §095(k) and §110(g).  With regard to §095(k), the AWCAC referred to its decision in Smith v. Anchorage School District, AWCAC Decision No. 050 (January 25, 2007), at 8, in which it confirmed, as follows:

[t]he statute clearly conditions the employee’s right to an SIME . . . upon the existence of a medical dispute between the physicians for the employee and the employer.

The AWCAC further stated in dicta before ordering an SIME, it is necessary to find the medical dispute is significant or relevant to a pending claim or petition and the SIME would assist the board in resolving the dispute.  Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp., AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008), at 4.  
The AWCAC further outlined the board’s authority to order an “SIME” under §110(g), as follows:

[T]he board has discretion to order an SIME when there is a significant gap in the medical or scientific evidence and opinion by an independent medical examiner or other scientific examination will help the board in resolving the issue before it 
(id., at 5).

Under either §095(k) or §110(g), the AWCAC noted the purpose of ordering an SIME is to assist the board, and not intended to give employees an additional medical opinion at the expense of employers when employees disagree with their own physicians’ opinion (id.).  When deciding whether to order an SIME, the board typically considers the following criteria, though the statute does not require it:

1)  Is there a medical dispute between Employee’s physician and Employer’s independent medical evaluation physician?

2)   Is the dispute significant? and

3)   Will an SIME physician’s opinion assist the Board in resolving the disputes?
Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage (ATU), AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).  See also, Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing and Heating, AWCB Decision No. 91-0128 
(May 2, 1991).  

Sec. 23.30.110.  Procedure on claims. . . . .

. . .

(g) An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician, which the board may require.  The place or places shall be reasonably convenient for the employee. . . .   

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  The presumption also applies to claims for continuing medical care for “palliative” treatment.  Adamson v. University of Alaska, 819 P.2d 886, 894 (Alaska 1991).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  
The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the claim and his employment.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability or other claim for benefits and the employment (Burgess Construction, 
623 P.2d at 316), or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).
Second, once the preliminary link is established, the presumption is raised and attaches to the claim; the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related, or the claimed benefit is somehow not compensable.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability;

or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.   Employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to Employee’s evidence.  Id. at 1055.  Therefore, credibility questions and weight accorded Employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if Employer produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption Employee’s injury entitles him to benefits.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994); citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  

If Employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, or, in appropriate cases not involving “work-relatedness,” produces evidence the requested benefit is somehow not compensable, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1381; citing Miller v. ITT Services, 577 P 2d. 1044, 1046.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller, 577 P.2d at 1049.  The same standard is used in determining whether Employer rebutted the §120 presumption.  Id. at 1046.  

AS 23.30.122. Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation.   (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  To controvert a claim, the employer must file a notice, on a form prescribed by the director, stating

(1) that the right of the employee to compensation is controverted;

(2) the name of the employee;

(3) the name of the employer;

(4) the date of the alleged injury or death; and

(5) the type of compensation and all grounds upon which the right to compensation is controverted

(b)  The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  On this date all compensation than do shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days. . . .

. . . 


(d)  If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death. . . .     

(e)  If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of the installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.  The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid.

. . .

(h) The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

. . .

(p)  An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due. . . .

AS 23.30.185 .  Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.   Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.
AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(2) ‘arising out of and in the course of employment’ includes employer-required or supplied travel to and from a remote job site; activities performed at the direction or under the control of the employer; and employer-sanctioned activities at employer-provided facilities; . . . .

(3) ‘attending physician’ means one of the following designated by the employee under AS 23.30.095(a) or (b): 

(A) a licensed medical doctor; . . .

. . .

(16) ‘disability’ means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.
. . .
(19) ‘employee’ means an employee employed by an employer as defined in (20) of this section.

(20) ‘employer’ means the state or its political subdivision or a person employing one or more persons in connection with a business or industry coming within the scope of this chapter and carried on in this state. . . .

. . .

(24) ‘injury’ means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment, and an occupational disease or infection that arises naturally out of the employment or that naturally or unavoidably results from an accidental 
injury; . . . .

. . .

(27) ‘medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care. . . .

. . .

8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an  Injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee. . . .

. . .

(2) on late-paid medical benefits to 

(A) the employee . . . if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits; 

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

 The Alaska Supreme Court explained how interest is calculated and applied in workers’ compensation cases in several decisions.  See Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Association, 860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).   

8 AAC 45.890.  Determining employee status.  For purposes of AS 23.30.265(12)
 and this chapter, the board will determine whether a person is an ‘employee’ based on the relative-nature-of-the-work test.  The test will include a determination under (1)-(6) of this section.  Paragraph (1) of this section is the most important factor and is interdependent with (2) of this section, and at least one of these factors must be resolved in favor of an ‘employee’ status for the board to find that a person is an employee.  The board will consider whether the work


(1) is a separate calling or business; if the person performing the services has the right to hire or terminate others to assist in the performance of the service for which the person was hired, there is an inference that the person is not an employee; if the employer


(A) has the right to exercise control of the manner and means to accomplish the desired results, there is a strong inference of employee status;


(B) and the person performing the services have the right to terminate the relationship at will, without cause, there is a strong inference of employee status;

(C) has the right to extensive supervision of the work then there is a strong inference of employee status;

(D) provides the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish the work and they are of substantial value, there is an inference of employee status; if the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish the work are not significant, no inference is created regarding the employment status;

(E) pays for the work on an hourly or piece rate wage rather than by the job, there is an inference of employee status; 


(F) and person performing the services entered into either a written or oral contract, the employment status the parties believed they were creating in the contract will be given deference; however, the contract will be construed in view of the circumstances under which it was made and the conduct of the parties while the job is being performed;


(2) is a regular part of the employer’s business or service; if it is a regular part of the employer’s business, there is an inference of employee status;

(3) can be expected to carry its own accident burden; this element is more important than (4) - (6) of this section; if the person performing the services is unlikely to be able to meet the costs of industrial accidents out of the payment for the services, there is a strong inference of employee status;

(4) involves little or no skill or experience; if so, there is an inference of employee status;


(5) is sufficient to amount to the hiring of continuous services, as distinguished from contracting for the completion of a particular job; if the work amounts to hiring of continuous services, there is an inference of employee status;


(6) is intermittent, as opposed to continuous; if the work is intermittent, there is a weak inference of no employee status (emphasis added).

The “most important factor” in the “relative nature of the work test” has three separate parts:  1) Whether or not the work is a “separate calling or business,” 2) did the person performing the services have the right to “hire or terminate others” to assist in the performance of the service “for which the person was hired,” and 3) a multi-part determination of whether or not the putative employer exercised control over the alleged employee.  

ANALYSIS

1) On the date of alleged injury, in or about late June 2008, was Tommy Cottrell an “employee,” employed by Big Wayne’s Services, Inc., an “employer”?

This issue involves factual determinations to which, as Employer stated in its brief, the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee’s claim he is Employer’s employee is not based on highly technical considerations and lay testimony is sufficiently probative to establish the necessary facts for the presumption analysis.  

In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption he was Employer’s employee at the time of the alleged injury through his own testimony, which established he did not have his own separate calling or business as a roofer, and did not have the right to hire or terminate others to assist in the performance of the services for which he was hired by Employer though he could select crewmembers from other Big Wayne’s Services’ employees or advise crewmembers they were not necessary on a particular job.  Other evidence causing the presumption to attach included the fact Employer had the right to exercise control over the jobs Employee performed, both Employee and Employer had the right to terminate the employment relationship at will, without cause, Employer Knicley and his father Ernie had the right to supervise Employee’s work, Employer provided all significant tools and materials to perform the services, Employer paid Employee on an hourly basis for the services performed, and Employer and Employee entered into an oral contract creating an employment relationship.  Furthermore, evidence roofing is a regular part of Employer’s business creates an inference of Employee status.  

Furthermore, Employee did not have his own workers’ compensation insurance policy and, given the amount of employment he performed for Employer, he could not be expected to carry his own accident burden.  With all due respect to roofers, the work Employee was performing for Employer required little experience or skill, and is typically learned on the job, creating an inference of employee status.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing an employee-employer relationship between him and Employer, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.
In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to employee-employer relationship through Mr. Knicley’s testimony Employee was not Employer’s employee.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, given Employer successfully rebutted the raised presumption, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his claim he is Employer’s employee by a “preponderance of the evidence.”  

The law requires application of the “relative-nature-of-the-work test” to these situations.  The law further says paragraph (1) of 8 AAC 45.890, which codifies this test, is “the most important factor” in determining employee-employer status and is interdependent with paragraph (2).   These sections deal primarily with whether the work done at the time of injury is a “separate calling or business” and emphasizes “control” of the work by the putative employer.  Here, Employee credibly testified he did not have a separate calling or business as a roofer in summer 2008.  Though he could choose his crewmembers from other Big Wayne’s Services’ employees, he did not have the right to hire or terminate them and simply had the right to pick and choose who he wanted on the job, or send workers home depending upon job requirements.  

Furthermore, Employer had the right to exercise control over the manner and means to accomplish the work, because Employer obtained all the customers and contracts, and directed Employee to his work sites.  Employee testified he and Employer both had the right to terminate their relationship at will without cause.  Employee’s testimony in this regard was uncontradicted.  Regardless of whether or not the right to supervision was exercised, in this instance Employer clearly had the right to supervise Employee’s work and Mr. Knicley and his father Ernie both appeared on job sites where Employee was working to check up on progress, and Ernie was Employer’s “eyes and ears” on the jobs.  All these facts denote an employee-employer relationship.

As Employee testified, and based upon “experience, judgment, observations . . . and inferences drawn from all of the above,” it is not unusual for roofers to provide and use their own, simple hand tools, such as a familiar hammer.  However, in this case Employer provided the jobs, the facilities where the jobs occurred, as well as all the supplies and materials, thus creating an inference Employee was indeed Employer’s employee.

Employee’s testimony he and Employer entered into an oral employment agreement and Employer paid him by the hour for his services is credible, and supported by the check evidence Employer ultimately submitted.  Employee’s account in this regard is credible, while Employer’s account, given the inconsistencies between Employer’s position and the evidence, is not.  This creates an inference Employee was Employer’s employee.

Work Employee was doing at the time of his injury is clearly a regular part of Employer’s business as a roofing company.  Given the amount of work Employer provided Employee, it is unreasonable to expect Employee to shoulder the burden of any work-related injuries or provide his own workers’ compensation insurance.  These facts also create an inference Employee was Employer’s employee.

Again, with due deference to roofers, and based upon “experience, judgment, observations . . . and inferences drawn from all of the above,” ordinary residential roofing is not a highly technical skill and is typically learned quickly, on the job.  Though Employee has considerable experience in construction and roofing, the relative lack of skill and experience required to perform residential roofing services creates an inference of employee status in this case.

Lastly, the checks produced by Employer show a fairly consistent hiring of Employee in May and June 2008.  This is sufficient to amount to hiring for continuous services as opposed to contracting for the completion of a particular job.  The evidence show Employee worked on several jobs.  This too creates an inference of employee status.  

At least two, disinterested ministers from Anchorage Bible Fellowship testified convincingly the church hired Employer to provide roofing services on its church, and Employee appeared on the job and assisted in performing those services.  Accordingly, Employee was an employee employed by Employer at the time of his injury.  Even if the presumption of compensability analysis was not applicable or not applied to this case, Employee would still successfully prove he was Employer’s employee at the time of his injury, by a preponderance of the evidence, based upon the same facts and analysis as set forth above.

2) Did Employee suffer a work-related “injury” with Employer?

This issue involves factual determinations to which, as Employer stated in its brief, the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee’s claim he suffered injury while employed by Employer in or about late June 2008 is not based on highly technical considerations and lay testimony is sufficiently probative to establish the necessary facts for the presumption analysis.  

In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption he suffered a work-related injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer through his own testimony.  Employee, though he had a long history of neck, back, and right knee pain and symptoms, was successfully able to work as a roofer prior to his employment with Employer working for a different company, doing such heavy labor as tearing off roofs.  While he was in prison prior to this employment, Employee ran stairs and was able to play handball, and was observed by a physician assistant playing handball without any apparent difficulty.  However, after the incident on Chalet Drive in Anchorage, where Employee was lowering tools and supplies off a second story roof and twisted his back, Employee’s neck, low back and right knee symptoms increased significantly to the point where at times he was bed ridden with pain, and required medical attention.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing he suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.
In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee suffering an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer through Mr. Knicley’s and his son’s testimony Employee never complained to them about any work-related injury, as one would expect if Employee indeed hurt himself on the job.
In the third step of the presumption analysis, given Employer successfully rebutted the raised presumption, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his claim he suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer by a “preponderance of the evidence.”    

The evidence shows Employee has a long history of neck, back and right knee conditions and varying symptoms.  Nonetheless, the evidence also shows Employee was able to play handball while in prison without any apparent difficulty.  “Experience, judgment, observations . . . and inferences drawn from all of the above,” show handball is a very vigorous sport, participation in which would be quite difficult for a person with significant neck, back or knee symptoms.  Consequently, notwithstanding Employee’s pre-existing neck, back and knee conditions, he lacked symptoms sufficient to prevent his participation in handball, and his successful participation tearing off roofs as a roofer prior to his employment with Employer.

A private investigator observed Employee secretly and reported he walked with a limp, consistent with his complaints.  Neither EME Dr. Biggs, nor EME Dr. Bald found any significant inconsistencies with Employee’s presentation or physical examination.  Both believed he was honest, straightforward, credible and was trying his best to recollect facts concerning his work-related events.  Both opined the event which, at that time they thought occurred in March 2008, caused at least a temporary “exacerbation” or “aggravation” of Employee’s pre-existing conditions in his neck, back and right knee.  Similarly, Employee credibly testified he had some, but relatively minimal neck, back and right knee symptoms prior to the event working on the roof on Chalet Drive in Anchorage.  Once that event occurred, Employee knew his back was “toast.”  Overall, Employee’s account is credible, notwithstanding his inability to focus clearly on dates when events occurred.

The law states a person may suffer an injury without suffering a new medical condition, or changing an underlying medical condition.  In other words, if a worker aggravates, accelerates, or has an event that combines with a pre-existing medical condition to cause symptoms which require medical care or cause disability, the worker has suffered an “injury.”  Employee proved an aggravation or exacerbation of a preexisting condition to his neck, back and right knee, and proved that “but for” the work-related trauma with Employer he would not have suffered disability at the same time, or in the same way, or to the same degree he has suffered.  In other words, Employee satisfied the “but for” test by proving as indicated above, the aggravation, acceleration or combination was “the substantial cause” of any resulting disability or need for medical treatment through at least August 2008.  

Even if the presumption of compensability analysis was not applicable or not applied to this case, Employee would still successfully prove he suffered an “injury” in or about late June 2008, which arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, by a preponderance of the evidence, based upon the same facts and analysis as set forth above.  The preponderance of evidence in the record, including the opinions from two EME doctors, support a conclusion Employee suffered an “injury” in or about late June 2008, which arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, the effects of which continued at least through the end of August 2008.

3) Is Employee entitled to an award of TTD from Employer from September 19, 2008 and continuing?

Given the decision concerning an SIME or other medical evaluation, discussed below, a decision on whether Employee is entitled to any TTD from Employer from September 19, 2008, and continuing, will not be decided at this time, and will be reserved for further hearing pending the result of a medical evaluation.

4) Is Employee entitled to an award of medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer?

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee’s claim he suffered injury while employed by Employer in or about late June 2008, and needed medical care and incurred transportation expenses related to that care is not based on highly technical considerations and lay testimony is sufficiently probative to establish the necessary facts for the presumption analysis.  

In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption he is entitled to an award of medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer through his own testimony.  He testified after he lowered the materials and tools down from the roof on Chalet Drive in Anchorage, he “tweaked” his back and his back was “toast.”  Employee testified he eventually saw Dr. Luther a few days later for chiropractic adjustments.  Two EME doctors testified his treatment through August 2008 was work-related, necessary and reasonable.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing he suffered an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, which required necessary and reasonable medical care or treatment and for which he incurred transportation costs, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.
In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee’s claim he is entitled to an award of medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer through Wayne Knicley’s testimony Employee never reported an injury to him, as one would expect, and therefore implying he was not hurt on the job and any medical care resulted from Employee’s pre-existing conditions.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, as stated above the preponderance of evidence in the record, including the opinions from two EME doctors, supports a conclusion Employee suffered an injury in or about late June 2008, which arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, at least through the end of August 2008.  Employee credibly testified he eventually saw Dr. Luther and other physicians to obtain medical care or treatment for his work-related injury.  Both EME doctors opined the treatment Employee received through August 2008 was reasonable and necessary.  Employee’s own attending physicians also provided reasonable and necessary medical care, which is attributable to the work-related injury, through at least August 2008.  Consequently, it follows Employee is entitled to award of medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer from the time he saw Dr. Luther on July 1, 2008, through the end of August 2008.  Even if the presumption of compensability analysis was not applicable or not applied to this case, Employee would still successfully prove he was Employer’s employee at the time of his injury, by a preponderance of the evidence, based upon the same facts and analysis as set forth above.

Employee as a non-lawyer is given some leeway in his filings and in procedures.  He is advised and informed, if he has not already done so, to provide Employer with copies of itemized billing statements from any all medical providers he saw for his work-related injury beginning with Dr. Luther on July 1, 2008, and continuing to the end of August 2008.  Employer will be ordered to pay these bills, or reimburse Employee for any out-of-pocket expenses he incurred in respect to these bills, including transportation expenses, and will be directed to reimburse Medicaid for any work-related expenses Medicaid incurred in this case through August 2008.  Employee is directed to provide receipts for out-of-pocket expenses paid in respect his medical bills, and a transportation mileage log to Employer for its review and payment, and to obtain Medicaid’s lien information and forward that to Employer for processing.  Jurisdiction over this issue is retained.
Given the decision concerning an SIME or other medical evaluation, discussed below, a decision on whether Employee is entitled to any additional medical expenses for his work-related injury from Employer from September 1, 2008, and continuing, will not be decided at this time, and will be reserved for further hearing, pending the results of a medical evaluation.

5) Is Employee entitled to a penalty from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers?

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee’s claim he reported the injury to his supervisors in or about late June 2008, and they failed to file an injury report, is not based on highly technical considerations and lay testimony is sufficiently probative to establish the necessary facts for the presumption analysis.  

In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption he is entitled to a penalty through his own testimony.  Employee testified he immediately reported his injury to Ernie, his job site supervisor, and then immediately thereafter reported it to Employer Wayne Knicley.  Furthermore, the file does not contain any Report of Occupational Injury.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing he provided actual knowledge of his injury to Employer, and Employer failed to file a written notice of injury, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.

In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee’s claim he is entitled to a penalty, through Employer Wayne Knicley’s testimony Employee never reported the injury to him.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, the preponderance of evidence in the record, including Employee’s credible testimony preponderates in his favor.  The law imposes countervailing duties upon injured workers and their employers.  The first duty imposed in AS 23.30.070 is on the employer who must, within 10 days from the date the employer has “knowledge” of an injury, send to the Workers’ Compensation Division a report setting out particulars concerning the injury.  If the employer has been given “notice,” meaning written notice, or if the employer or agent of the employer in charge of business in the place where the injury occurred has “knowledge” meaning actual knowledge of an injury and fails, neglects or refuses to file a report of it, certain limitations under the law do not begin to run against the claimant.   Similarly, an employer who fails or refuses to send a report required by law within the time required “shall” if required  pay the employee or other person entitled to compensation by reason of the employee’s injury an additional award equal to 20% of the amounts that were unpaid when due.  

Here, Employee immediately reported to Ernie, Employer’s supervisor on the job site, he had hurt his back and could no longer complete the job.  Employee’s account is credible and Ernie did not appear at hearing to testify or contradict his account.  Immediately after leaving the job, Employee also reported the injury verbally to Employer Wayne Knicley.  Though Mr. Knicley disputed this, his testimony is not credible.  Accordingly, Employer, through its agent in charge of the work at the place of injury, and Employer’s principal Mr. Knicley had actual knowledge Employee claimed an injury.  This actual knowledge imposed upon Employer a first duty to file an injury report.  No injury report appears in the file and none was ever filed.  Consequently, the law requires Employer to pay Employee and his medical providers a 20% penalty of all amounts unpaid when due.  Even if the presumption of compensability analysis was not applicable or not applied to this issue, Employee would still successfully prove he was entitled to a penalty, by a preponderance of the evidence, based upon the same facts and analysis as set forth above.

Employer will be directed to pay an appropriate penalty.  Employee as a non-lawyer is given some leeway in his filings and in procedures.  He is advised and informed, if he has not already done so, to provide Employer with evidence on when medical payments for Employee’s work-related injury were due and payable.  The parties are directed to determine if and when Employer received medical records and related itemized medical billings from Employee or his medical providers.  Jurisdiction will be retained over this issue if the parties cannot come to an agreement.

6) Is Employee entitled to an award of mandatory interest from Employer payable to him or his medical providers? 

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee’s claim he incurred medical care for his work-related injury, is not based on highly technical considerations and lay testimony is sufficiently probative to establish the necessary facts for the presumption analysis.  

In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption he is entitled to interest on the medical benefits awarded in this decision through his testimony he incurred bills for medical care for this injury.  

In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee’s claim he is entitled to interest through Employer Wayne Knicley’s testimony Employee never reported the injury to him, thereby implying no injury occurred for which Employee sought medical bills subject to interest, and any medical bills arose from preexisting medical conditions.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, the preponderance of evidence in the record, including Employee’s credible testimony preponderates in his favor.  The record includes evidence of Employee’s post-injury medical care.  The law states interest on all benefits not paid when due is mandatory.  At this point, Employee has been awarded only medical benefits through August 2008.  Therefore, Employee is awarded interest on any work-related medical benefits he paid out of his own pocket through August 2008.  Similarly, if medical providers are owed for work-related medical benefits arising from this decision, pursuant to the law, interest is owed directly to those providers.  The record on this point is not well developed and the parties are directed to attempt to resolve the issue of what work-related medical benefits, incurred through August 2008,  are due and payable, and when.  Employee as a non-lawyer is given some leeway in his filings and in procedures.  He is advised and informed, if he has not already done so, to provide Employer with evidence on when medical payments to him or his providers for Employee’s work-related injury through August 2008 were due and payable.  Interest shall be calculated from the date the medical benefits were due and payable.  Jurisdiction is retained over this issue to resolve any disputes.

7) Should an SIME or other medical evaluation be ordered in this case?

This is primarily a legal issue to which the presumption of compensability does not apply.  The law, as interpreted by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission and the Alaska Supreme Court, provides numerous ways for the board to obtain adequate medical evidence to insure quick, efficient, fair and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to employers.  The law requires cases be decided on their merits and hearings be fair and impartial to all parties.  

Among ways to obtain fair and impartial medical evidence are SIMEs and medical examinations under §110(g) and §155(h).  SIMEs are generally ordered if there is a medical dispute between Employee’s attending physician and Employer’s medical consultants, or a “gap” in the medical evidence.  Examinations under §110(g) are similar to SIMEs, but do not require a medical dispute.  Similarly, medical evaluations ordered under §155(h) do not require a medical dispute and are ordered to “properly protect the rights of all parties” in controverted cases.

In the instant case, Employee’s attending physicians have, for the most part, not clearly commented on the work-relatedness of Employee’s symptoms and any disability, or the need for medical treatment at least after August 2008.  Similarly, as discussed above, Employer’s EME physicians gave opinions supporting a finding Employee suffered a work-related injury and needed medical care through at least August 2008, but labored under the misimpression his injury occurred in March 2008, not late June 2008.  Furthermore, Employee’s EME physicians were not given an appropriate definition of “the substantial cause.”  Employer’s counsel asked the SIME physicians in their depositions to assume “the substantial cause” meant “the cause that plays the greatest role in bringing about the condition or conditions that you’ve diagnosed (emphasis added).”  However, this is not the proper legal test for “the substantial cause.”  The statute addressing “coverage,” which sets forth “the substantial cause” test, says nothing of the underlying medical “condition.”  It speaks to the employment being “the substantial cause” of any disability or need for medical treatment.  Consequently, it is unclear what Employer’s EME physicians’ opinions would be had they been given the correct legal definition of “the substantial cause.”

Though there is no clear-cut “medical dispute” between Employee’s and Employer’s physicians, given the above, there are “gaps” in the medical evidence which could be resolved through a medical evaluation done by a physician from the SIME list.  Specifically, to best determine the parties’ rights, and to determine if the work-related injury is still the substantial cause in any disability from September 19, 2008 forward, and is still the substantial cause of the need for any medical treatment after August 2008, including the May 2010 low back surgery, Employee will be directed to attend a medical evaluation paid for by Employer.  Given this case’s facts, the board designee will select an orthopedic surgeon to perform the medical evaluation.  Whether it is called an SIME, §110(g), or §155(h) evaluation, the result is the same.  The facts in this case warrant a medical evaluation under these circumstances to help decide this case on its merits, in fairness to all parties.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) On the date of alleged injury, in or about late June 2008, Tommy Cottrell was an “employee,” employed by Big Wayne’s Services, Inc., an “employer.”

2) Employee did suffer a work-related “injury” with Employer, in or about late June 2008.

3) The question whether Employee is entitled to an award of TTD from Employer from September 19, 2008 and continuing is reserved, pending a medical evaluation from a physician selected from the SIME list.

4) Employee is entitled to an award of work-related medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer, at this time through August 2008.

5) Employee is entitled to a penalty from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers, on work-related medical expenses, at this time through August 2008.

6) Employee is entitled to an award of mandatory interest from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers, on medical benefits awarded in this decision, at this time through August 2008. 

7) An SIME or other medical evaluation shall be ordered in this case.


ORDER

1) Tommy Cottrell was an “employee,” employed by Big Wayne’s Services, Inc., an “employer” in or about late June 2008.

2) Employee suffered a work-related “injury” with Employer in or about late June 2008.

3) The question whether Employee is entitled to an award of TTD from Employer from September 19, 2008 and continuing is reserved, pending a medical evaluation by an orthopedic surgeon selected from the SIME list.

4) Employee is awarded work-related medical costs and related transportation expenses from Employer, at this time from his first visit with Dr. Luther in July 2008, through August 2008, in accordance with this decision.

5) Employee is awarded a penalty from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers on work-related medical bills incurred and unpaid when due, at this time from his first visit with Dr. Luther in July 2008, through August 2008, in accordance with this decision.

6) Employee and his medical providers are awarded mandatory interest from Employer payable to him or to his medical providers, on work-related medical bills that were unpaid when due, at this time from his first visit with Dr. Luther in July 2008, through August 2008, in accordance with this decision. 

7) A medical evaluation performed by an orthopedic physician selected from the SIME list is ordered.  The parties shall attend a prehearing within 30 days of the date of this decision, at which time the standard SIME protocol will be followed in respect to the medical evaluation.  

Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on September  30, 2010.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of TOMMY J. COTTRELL Employee / applicant v. BIG WAYNE’S SERVICES, INC., Employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200903275; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on September 30, 2010.






Jean Sullivan, Clerk
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� This is a revision error in the regulation, as this subsection is now renumbered either 23.30.395(19) or (20).  It is difficult to tell which subsection this subsection originally referenced because the Act’s definition section has changed numerous times and this regulation has apparently escaped proper revision for many years.  It most likely refers to the current definition of “employee.” 
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